Filed 11-17-2022 Page 1 of 51

> **RECEIVED** 11-17-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

ALLEN GAHL, Attorney in fact, On behalf of his principal, JOHN J. ZINGSHEIM,

Petitioner-Respondent-Petitioner,

Appeal No. 2021AP001787 FT v.

AURORA HEALTH CARE, INC. d/b/a AURORA MEDICAL CENTER-SUMMIT,

Respondent-Appellant.

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE LLOYD CARTER, PRESIDING CASE NO. 2021CV001469

#### RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

Submitted by: Michael L. Johnson - SBN 1056247

Jason J. Franckowiak-SBN 1030873

Case No. 2021CV001469

Randall R. Guse – SBN 1024900

OTJEN LAW FIRM, S.C.

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in granting an order compelling independently licensed health care providers to administer medical treatment that was inconsistent with their patient's hospital treatment plan?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in granting an order compelling a hospital to credential an outside physician who otherwise lacked hospital privileges, for the specific purpose of permitting that physician to render care to the hospital's patient that was inconsistent with the patient's hospital treatment plan?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. NATURE OF THE CASE

John Zingsheim was being treated for COVID-19 in the ICU of Aurora Medical Center-Summit (hereinafter "Aurora-Summit") subject to the hospital's COVID treatment protocol in October of 2021. Zingsheim's Health Care Power of Attorney, Allen Gahl, subsequently requested that the hospital administer ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim. Mr. Zingsheim's hospital medical team declined to administer ivermectin on the basis that the administration of ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim, given his then-existing medical condition, would be unhelpful to him, and would be contrary to the standard of care.

Gahl subsequently brought an emergency petition for declaratory and injunctive relief in the Circuit Court for Waukesha County, seeking to compel Mr. Zingsheim's treatment team at Aurora-Summit to administer ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim. The Circuit Court issued an

order compelling the hospital staff to administer ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim, but subsequently modified its order to instead compel the hospital to credential an outside physician of Mr. Gahl's choosing for the purpose of permitting that physician to administer ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim in the hospital.

Before the Court's modified order could be signed, the Court of Appeals accepted Aurora's Petition for Review. The issue before the Court of Appeals was whether the Circuit Court had the legal authority to issue an injunction compelling Aurora to administer treatment that, in the professional judgment of its staff, fell below the standard of care, or to compel Aurora to credential a non-Aurora medical provider to administer the treatment. The Court of Appeals concluded that the Circuit Court had no legal authority to compel Aurora, an independent health care provider, to administer the requested medical treatment. The Court of Appeals further held that the Circuit Court had no legal authority to compel Aurora-Summit to credential an outside provider to administer the requested medical treatment.

#### II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On September 16, 2021, John Zingsheim was diagnosed with COVID-19, and three days later, was hospitalized at Aurora-Summit in the ICU. (R. 2:3). While hospitalized, Mr. Zingsheim received 24-hour care from a team of providers which included the Hospital Medicine Service, the Infectious Disease Service, the Pulmonary Service, and the Critical Care Service. (R. 61:2). A critical care plan of treatment was initiated. Zingsheim was receiving no less than 20 different medications while in the ICU at Aurora-Summit. (R. 61:3-4).

Filed 11-17-2022

Allen Gahl, the nephew and Health Care Power of Attorney for Mr. Zingsheim, was concerned about the clinical progress of his uncle, and began to independently research alternative treatments. (R. 2:4). In the course of his "research," Mr. Gahl came across a medication known as ivermectin, which had been FDA approved for treatment of parasitic infections, but which had not obtained FDA approval for use in the treatment of COVID. (R. 2:4); R. 12, 13).

After learning of ivermectin, Mr. Gahl sought out a physician who would be willing to issue a prescription for ivermectin to his uncle, eventually settling upon a retired OB/GYN living in Hudson, Wisconsin – Dr. Edward Hagen. (R. 2:5). Dr. Hagen is the founder and the Chief Medical Officer at "Vivify Integrative Health" in Hudson, Wisconsin, focusing "on a personal approach that empowers each patient to achieve optimal health in mind, body and spirit." (R. 2:5). Dr. Hagen had never previously treated nor even seen Mr. Zingsheim, and did not have access to Mr. Zingsheim's medical records. Instead, Dr. Hagen was given Mr. Zingsheim's "medical history" secondhand through Mr. Gahl and another member of Mr. Zingsheim's family, Sarah Gahl. (R. 51:1; R. 62:1).

Despite having been sanctioned eight years earlier by the Medical Examining Board for "unprofessional conduct" as a result of having prescribed medication to a non-patient without conducting a proper medical examination, Dr. Hagen agreed to issue a prescription, sight unseen, to Mr. Zingsheim for 66 mg of ivermectin per day for a period of five days. (R. 18). In doing so, Dr. Hagen did not conduct a medical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In June of 2013, Dr. Hagen had been sanctioned by the Wisconsin Medical Examining Board (MEB), because he had prescribed medication to an individual who was not his patient, without performing a medical examination, without keeping any

Filed 11-17-2022

examination of Mr. Zingsheim, review or create any medical records for him, nor speak with any of Mr. Zingsheim's treating providers at Aurora-Summit.

With a prescription for ivermectin in hand, Mr. Gahl approached his uncle's care team at Aurora-Summit and demanded that they immediately administer Dr. Hagen's ivermectin prescription to Mr. Zingsheim. (R. 2:6-7).The hospital treatment team declined to effectuate Dr. Hagen's prescription for a number of reasons:

- The FDA had not approved the use of ivermectin for the treatment of COVID-19, and has warned against its use as a treatment for COVID-19. (R. 45:7);
- The CDC had issued a health advisory warning against the use of ivermectin for the treatment of COVID-19. (R. 45:9);
- The AMA, the American Pharmacists Association, and the American Society of Health System Pharmacists had strongly opposed the ordering, prescribing, or dispensing of ivermectin to treat COVID-19 outside of a clinical trial. (R. 45:10);
- High doses of ivermectin, such as the proposed dose of 66 mg per day, can be dangerous to humans, causing hypotension, ataxia, seizures, coma, and death. (R. 45:11); and
- Providing ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim given his then-current medical status would constitute a violation of the standard of care. (R. 45:12).

medical records, and without speaking to the individual's treating health care The MEB determined that this conduct constituted providers. (R. 11:2). "unprofessional conduct" under the Wisconsin Administrative Code. (R. 11:2). Dr. Hagen was able to avoid a more significant penalty from the MEB at the time, because he represented to the Board "that this was an isolated incident, and he will never write another prescription for anyone without having seen them in a clinic or hospital, completing an appropriate history and physical examination, developing an assessment, and completing a plan." (R. 11:2).

12

Filed 11-17-2022

Mr. Gahl subsequently filed a "Complaint for Emergency Declaratory and Injunctive Relief" in Waukesha County Circuit Court on October 7, 2021, seeking to compel Mr. Zingsheim's treating providers at Aurora-Summit to immediately administer Dr. Hagen's ivermectin prescription of 66 mg per day to Mr. Zingsheim. (R. 2). The Petition was accompanied solely by an affidavit signed by Mr. Gahl, and was not supported with medical testimony from any physician or other health care provider.

Aurora filed a brief opposing Mr. Gahl's petition (R. 10), accompanied by signed and notarized affidavits from two physicians – Dr. James Holmberg, the Chief Medical Officer of Aurora-Summit, and Dr. David Letzer, an infectious disease specialist who was one of the physicians on Mr. Zingsheim's treatment team at Aurora-Summit. (R. 44, 45). Both physicians opined that the administration of ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim would be contrary to the standard of care.

The Circuit Court conducted an initial hearing on October 12, 2021, at which Mr. Gahl appeared by a New York attorney named Ralph Lorigo, who presented no medical affidavits or testimony in support of Mr. Gahl's petition, relying instead upon media anecdotes and vague references to "studies" purporting to support the use of ivermectin as a treatment for COVID. (R. 85:5-31). The Circuit Court noted at the conclusion of the October 12th hearing that it had been provided by Mr. Gahl with no medical testimony in support of the Petition, and invited the parties to submit additional affidavits that afternoon. (R. 85:55-68).

Aurora subsequently filed a second affidavit from Dr. Holmberg, which detailed the treatment that was being provided to Mr. Zingsheim in the hospital. (R. 61). Gahl submitted a short affidavit from Dr. Hagen.

(R. 62). Hagen's affidavit stated "that the administration of ivermectin at the dosage indicated, gave the patient a realistic chance for improvement while presenting a low risk of side effects," but did not offer any opinion as to whether the administration of ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim, given his then-present medical condition, was consistent with the standard of care. Nor did Dr. Hagen's affidavit offer any opinion to substantiate that the hospital's treatment protocol was not consistent with the standard of care. (R. 62). Dr. Hagen never disclosed his rationale for prescribing a dosage of 66 mg/day of ivermectin.

Gahl also submitted to the Court an unnotarized affidavit from a physician named Dr. Pierre Kory. (R. 50). Dr. Kory's affidavit attached a number of articles and other documents, but did not establish that the authors of any of those articles were, in fact, experts in their respective fields. (R. 50). Dr. Kory's affidavit also contained not a single mention of John Zingsheim, nor did it include any patient-specific information nor any opinions pertinent to Mr. Zingsheim's then-present medical condition. (R. 50).Dr. Hagen's affidavit contained no opinion to substantiate that the administration of ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim was consistent with the standard of care in light of Mr. Zingsheim's thenexisting medical condition. (R. 50).

In the late afternoon of October 12, 2021, Mr. Gahl's counsel submitted a proposed order to the Court for signature. (R. 66). That order contained the following pertinent language:

NOW, upon the motion of Mr. Gahl, it is hereby

ORDERED, that the Defendant show cause, at a term of the Circuit Court, before the honorable Lloyd V. Carter via Zoom ... on the 12<sup>th</sup> day of October, 2021, at 1:30 p.m. or as soon

Filed 11-17-2022

thereafter as counsel can be heard, why this court should not issue an order as follows:

- A. Compelling the Respondent and/or their agents to comply with Dr. Hagen's order and prescription to administer ivermectin to their mutual patient, John Zingsheim and thereafter as ordered by Dr. Hagen; and
- B. Granting Mr. Gahl such other, further and different relief as this Court may deem just, equitable and proper; and it is further

ORDERED, that pending further order of this Court, the Defendant, their agents, and assigns, and any third parties acting on its behalf, upon receipt of this Order to Show Cause and its supporting papers, shall immediately enforce Dr. Hagen's order and prescription to administer ivermectin to their mutual patient, Mr. Zingsheim, and thereafter as further ordered by Mr. Gahl.

(R. 66). The Circuit Court signed the Order on the evening of October 12, 2021, without issuing any further explanatory written order or decision, and without holding any further hearings that day. (R. 66).

Concerned that the Order, as signed, compelled the hospital to administer Dr. Hagen's ivermectin prescription thereafter "as further ordered by Mr. Gahl" (who was a non-physician layperson), counsel for Aurora notified the Circuit Court of Aurora's concerns that evening by letter. (R. 68). Aurora also filed, that same evening, a Petition for Leave to Appeal the trial court's order of that date, and a Motion for Relief Pending Appeal. (R. 69, 78).

The Circuit Court subsequently held a second hearing the following day, on October 13, 2021. (R. 86). Though Dr. Kory was present on Zoom for that hearing, Gahl's counsel did not elicit any testimony from him on the record, and Dr. Kory never offered any testimony before the Circuit Court. (R. 86). Gahl's counsel presented no medical testimony at the hearing on October 13<sup>th</sup>. (R. 86).

At the conclusion of the hearing held on October 13<sup>th</sup>, the Circuit Court judge maintained his Order of the previous day compelling the administration of ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim, but modified the earlier order somewhat; the modified order compelled the hospital to credential an outside physician of Mr. Gahl's choosing, for the specific purpose of allowing that outside physician to administer ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim. (R. 86:30-36).

The Court's proposed modified order was put into writing, but before it could be signed by the Circuit Court, the Court of Appeals accepted Aurora's Petition for Leave to Appeal and stayed further proceedings in the Circuit Court. (R. 83; R. 84). The modified order was never signed by the Circuit Court, but the Court of Appeals invited the parties to brief any issues raised by the Court's unsigned modified order. (R. 84).

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court may issue a temporary injunction when the moving party demonstrates four elements: 1) the movant is likely to suffer irreparable harm if a temporary injunction is not issued; 2) the movant has no other adequate remedy at law; 3) a temporary injunction is necessary to preserve the status quo; and 4) the movant has a reasonable probability of success on the merits. *Milwaukee Deputy Sheriff's' Ass'n v. Milwaukee Cnty.*, 2016 WI App. 56, 370 Wis. 2d 644, 659, 883 N.W.2d 154. Injunctions, whether temporary or permanent, are not to be issued

lightly. School Dist. of Slinger v. Wisconsin Interscholastic Athletic Ass'n, 210 Wis. 2d 365, 370, 563 N.W.2d 585 (Ct. App. 1997). The cause must be substantial. *Id*.

The grant or denial of injunctive relief is a matter of discretion for the Circuit Court. *Milwaukee Deputy Sheriffs' Ass'n v. Milwaukee Cnty.*, supra, at 659. An erroneous exercise of discretion in the context of a temporary injunction occurs when the Circuit Court: 1) fails to consider and make a record of the factors relevant to its determination; 2) considers clearly irrelevant or improper factors; or 3) clearly gives too much weight to one factor. *School Dist. of Slinger v. Wisconsin Interscholastic Athletic Ass'n*, supra, at 370. An erroneous exercise of discretion may also be found where the Circuit Court made an error of law. *Id.* 

# II. PETITIONER GAHL DID NOT MEET HIS BURDEN TO PROVE EACH OF THE PREREQUISITES FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF BEFORE THE CIRCUIT COURT

- A. The Record Does Not Support the "Irreparable Harm" Element Necessary for Injunctive Relief.
  - 1. The only patient-specific medical opinions in the record that were issued by physicians having personal knowledge of Mr. Zingsheim's medical condition, and which address the appropriateness and safety of treating Mr. Zingsheim with ivermectin, were issued by Aurora physicians.

The record contains affidavits submitted by four physicians, comprising two affidavits submitted by Aurora-Summit's Chief Medical Officer, Dr. Holmberg (R. 45; R. 61); an affidavit by Dr. Letzer (R. 44); an affidavit submitted by Dr. Edward Hagen (R. 62); and an affidavit submitted by Dr. Pierre Kory (R. 50). Mr. Gahl also submitted two

affidavits, but there is no evidence in the record that he has any medical training or experience, so his affidavits cannot speak to the question of whether Mr. Zingsheim would be likely to experience "irreparable harm" if the Court did not compel the administration of ivermectin. The question of whether Mr. Zingsheim would likely experience "irreparable harm" in the absence of ivermectin is a matter that requires special learning or experience, and expert testimony is therefore required. *Cramer v. Theda Clark Memorial Hosp.*, 45 Wis. 2d 147, 150, 172 N.W.2d 427 (1969).

As an initial matter, Dr. Kory's affidavit should not be considered because it is not notarized. (R. 50). Wisconsin statute § 887.01(1) states that "an ... affidavit required or authorized by law ... may be taken before any judge, court commissioner ... (or) notary public ...; and, when certified by the officer to have been taken before him or her, may be read and used in any court and before any officer, board or commission." Signed but unnotarized affidavits merit no consideration. *Wis. Hosp. Ass'n v. Nat. Resources Bd.*, 156 Wis. 2d 688, 723, n.13, 457 N.W.2d 879 (Ct. App. 1990).

Of the four physicians who submitted affidavits before the Circuit Court, only two (Dr. Holmberg and Dr. Letzer) had access to Mr. Zingsheim's medical records and possessed personal knowledge of Mr. Zingsheim's course of treatment, and his then-existing medical condition (R. 44; R. 45). Dr. Hagen concedes that he knew nothing about Mr. Zingsheim beyond information that he received secondhand through Mr. Gahl and another of Mr. Zingsheim's relatives. (R. 62:1-2). Dr. Kory's unnotarized affidavit should be disregarded, but even if the affidavit were procedurally sufficient, it is entirely bereft of any reference to Mr.

Zingsheim, his medical history, his medical records, his hospital treatment history, or his then-existing medical condition. (R. 50).

Moreover, only Dr. Holmberg and Dr. Letzer offered opinions in their respective affidavits that are patient-specific, i.e., that speak to the efficacy and/or the dangers of ivermectin if administered to Mr. Zingsheim, specifically. For example, Dr. Holmberg opined in his initial affidavit:

- The hospital treatment team believed that ivermectin is not an appropriate treatment for Zingsheim's medical condition. (R. 45:12);
- The use of ivermectin in the treatment of John Zingsheim's COVID-19 symptoms would not meet the standard of care. (R. 45:19); and
- John Zingsheim was more likely to experience a negative outcome from the administration of ivermectin, including but not limited to, heart damage, stroke, liver damage and kidney damage as a result of the use of ivermectin, than he would be if the hospital's treatment plan were followed. (R. 45:20).

Dr. Holmberg also submitted a second affidavit to explain and update the care and the treatment plan for Mr. Zingsheim. (R. 61). In that affidavit, Dr. Holmberg stated that it was his medical opinion that ivermectin would have no beneficial effect to Mr. Zingsheim, given his then-existing medical condition. (R. 61:17).

Dr. Letzer, an infectious disease specialist who was part of Mr. Zingsheim's hospital treatment team, opined in his affidavit:

• John Zingsheim's treatment team believed that ivermectin would not be an appropriate treatment for him in light of his then-existing medical condition. (R. 44:11);

Filed 11-17-2022

- The treatment team was distressed over the lasting physical consequences that it believed would result from the administration of ivermectin to John Zingsheim given his then-existing medical condition. (R. 44:14); and
- The use of ivermectin in the treatment of John Zingsheim's COVID-19 symptoms as of October 11, 2021 would not meet the standard of care. (R. 44:16).

Dr. Hagen's affidavit states simply that "the administration of ivermectin at the dosage indicated, gave the patient a realistic chance for improvement while presenting a low risk of side effects." (R. 62:3). His affidavit, however, does not justify the 66 mg dose of ivermectin that he had prescribed for Mr. Zingsheim, nor explain why that dosage (which was described as "inappropriately high" by Dr. Holmberg and Dr. Letzer in their respective affidavits), was required for this specific patient. Dr. Hagen offers nothing in his affidavit to support a contention that this medication, at this dosage, for this specific patient, was a treatment that met the standard of care. Dr. Hagen's affidavit fails to offer any opinion as to what Dr. Hagen would expect to occur in Mr. Zingsheim's case, given his then-existing medical condition, if ivermectin were not administered. (R. 62).

Dr. Kory's proposed affidavit is procedurally insufficient and should therefore not be considered. Even if it were to be considered, however, it is equally bereft of any medical opinion related specifically to Mr. Zingsheim and his unique medical situation as of October 13, 2021. Dr. Kory's affidavit provides absolutely no guidance as to the potential efficacy of ivermectin or the dangers thereof when administered to this particular patient – Mr. Zingsheim – given his unique medical needs and his then-existing medical condition. Dr. Kory's affidavit does not mention Mr. Zingsheim at all.

2. Lacking expert testimony to support the efficacy of ivermectin in treating Mr. Zingsheim from any physician having personal knowledge of Mr. Zingsheim's then-existing medical condition, the record does not establish a likelihood of "irreparable harm."

Filed 11-17-2022

The Circuit Court made no findings, in writing or otherwise, as to the "irreparable harm" element necessary for a grant of injunctive relief. The circuit court recognized the elements that Mr. Gahl was required to prove in order to state a viable claim for injunctive relief (R. 85; 54), but never explained if, or how, the court had arrived at a conclusion that Mr. Gahl had established a "likelihood of irreparable harm." Nor did the Circuit Court explain what factors it considered in support of any such conclusion. This failure, alone, constitutes an erroneous exercise of See School Dist. of Slinger v. Wisconsin Interscholastic discretion. Athletic Ass'n, 210 Wis. 2d at 370 ("An erroneous exercise of discretion" in the context of a temporary injunction occurs when the circuit court: 1) fails to consider and make a record of the factors relevant to its determination ...").

The Circuit Court also failed to consider the information presented by counsel for Aurora during the hearing of October 13, 2021, that Mr. Zingsheim had tested negative for COVID-19 that very morning. (R. 86:9-10). Gahl's Petition had asserted that ivermectin was necessary for the treatment of COVID. Despite receiving information at the October 13th hearing that Mr. Zingsheim was COVID-negative as of that date, the Circuit Court, without explanation, maintained its prior ruling requiring the administration of ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim. Circuit Court made no record as to how this new information did or did

not affect the Court's decision to compel the administration of ivermectin to Mr. Zingsheim.

A circuit court also erroneously exercises its discretion in the context of a temporary injunction when the court considers improper factors. School Dist. of Slinger, supra, at 370. To the extent that the Circuit Court concluded that Mr. Zingsheim was likely to experience "irreparable harm," based upon the affidavits submitted by Dr. Hagen and Dr. Kory, the Court abused its discretion. Even if the Circuit Court had made the required record on the "irreparable harm" element, there is insufficient medical testimony in the record to support a conclusion that Mr. Zingsheim, given his then-existing medical condition, was likely to experience "irreparable harm" if not administered 66 mg of ivermectin per day for a period of five days, as prescribed by Dr. Hagen. There is no medical testimony in the record to justify this specific dose of this medication for this patient. Nor is there any medical testimony in the record establishing the likelihood that Mr. Zingsheim would suffer "irreparable harm" if 66 mg of ivermectin per day were not administered to him.

The Circuit Court abused its discretion in granting injunctive relief to Mr. Gahl in the absence of an adequate record, and in the absence of proof to support the "irreparable injury" requirement for a grant of injunctive relief.

# B. The Injunctive Relief Ordered by the Circuit Court was Not Necessary in Order to "Preserve the Status Quo," Nor Did It.

A temporary injunction may only be issued if it would be necessary to preserve the status quo. *Milwaukee Deputy Sheriffs' Ass'n v.* 

Filed 11-17-2022

Milwaukee Cnty., supra, 370 Wis. 2d 644, at 659. The Circuit Court recognized that this was a necessary factor for injunctive relief. (R. 85:54), but did not make a record as to how or why injunctive relief was necessary in Mr. Zingsheim's case in order to maintain the status quo. Nor did the Circuit Court make a record of the factors that it considered in support of any such determination. This, in itself, constitutes an See School Dist. of Slinger v. Wisconsin abuse of discretion. Interscholastic Athletic Ass'n, supra, 210 Wis. 2d, at 370.

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