Brief of Respondent

Filed 12-20-2021

Page 1 of 16

FILED 12-20-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

\_\_\_\_\_

ALLEN GAHL, Attorney-in-Fact On behalf of his principal, JOHN J. ZINGSHEIM,

Petitioner-Respondent,

**Appeal No. 2021AP001787FT** 

v.

AURORA HEALTH CARE INC. d/b/a/ AURORA HEALTH CARE, INC.-SUMMIT,

Respondent-Appellant,

PETITIONER-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE LLOYD V. CARTER PRESIDING – CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 21-CV-1469

Submitted by: Karen L. Mueller Wis. Bar # 1038392 AMOS CENTER FOR JUSTICE & LIBERTY

18261 57<sup>th</sup> Avenue

Chippewa Falls, WI 54729

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

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Circuit Court's signed order should not be overturned because the court had the discretion and legal authority to make the decision and did not abuse its discretion. See Spheeris Sporting Goods, Inc. v. Spheeris on Capitol, 157 Wis.2d 298, 459 N.W. 2d 581 (Wis. App. 1990.) (quoting Browne v. Milwaukee Bd. Of School Directors, 83 Wis. 2d 316, 336, 265 N.W.2d 559, 568, reh'g denied, 83 Wis. 2d 340b, 267 N.W. 2d 379 (1978)) ("The decision to grant or deny a temporary injunction is within the trial court's discretion and will only be reversed where to trial court abuses its discretion").

## II. CIRCUIT COURTS HAVE THE LEGAL AND EQUITABLE AUTHORITY TO COMPEL A LICENSED HEALTH CARE PROVIDER TO RENDER MEDICAL TREATMENT

A. Legal causes of action empower a circuit court's authority to compel a Wisconsin licensed health care provider to render medical treatment:

### 1. HCPOA-Wisconsin Statute 155.30(1)

The Waukesha Circuit Court Judge Lloyd Carter had statutory authority to grant an injunction ordering Aurora Medical Center-Summit to administer the drug Ivermectin to Mr. John Zingsheim. It is found in Statute 155.30(1). The express statement of patients' rights found in the first paragraph of State of Wisconsin's official HCPOA form reads as follows:

### "NOTICE TO PERSON MAKING THIS DOCUMENT"

"YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO MAKE DECISIONS ABOUT YOUR HEALTH CARE. NO HEALTH CARE MAY BE GIVEN TO YOU OVER YOUR OBJECTION, AND NECESSARY HEALTH CARE MAY NOT BE STOPPED OR WITHHELD IF YOU OBJECT..." Wis. Stat. 155.30(1)

The plain meaning of the words "necessary health care may not be stopped or withheld if you object. . . "is clear and unambiguous. <u>County of Dane v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n</u>, 2009 WI 9, \*21, 315 Wis. 2d 293 (stating "Statutory Interpretation begins with the language of the statute" and statutory language "is given its common ordinary, and accepted meaning"). Therefore, the statute means what it says. John Zingsheim and other patients in Wisconsin in similar circumstances, have a right to have necessary treatments or drugs such as Ivermectin administered.

Case 2021AP001787 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2021 Page 8 of 16

In evaluating Wis. Stat. 155.30(1) the word "necessary" as in "necessary treatment" for John Zingsheim is one that may heal him and has minimal risk of killing him. The word "necessary" according to the Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary means: 1) absolutely needed: required; 2a) of an inevitable nature: inescapable; 2b (1)) logically unavoidable; 2(b)(2) that cannot be denied without contradiction; c) determined or produced by the previous condition of things; d) compulsory.

The necessity of Ivermectin for John Zingsheim is "required" if he is to have a chance at life. The necessity of this drug is "inescapable," given what has transpired in the last two months. It is "logically unavoidable" that Ivermectin should be tried because the risk of it harming him is very low and it may just heal his inflammation ravaged lungs. Because the other treatments that the hospital has tried on him have not worked the solution of giving John Zingsheim the Ivermectin has been "determined or produced by the previous condition of things." In fact, the hospital has been pushing comfort care for over a month which indicates the hospital has given up on him. He can either die from neglect by failing to treat him or he can possibly heal by giving him the Ivermectin.

There is no good reason for "withholding" the Ivermectin from John Zingsheim and Wis. Stat. 155.30(1) forbids the hospital from doing so, once the patient or their attorney-in-fact for health care objects to the "withholding" of a requested drug. See <u>State v. LIRC</u>, 136 Wis. 2d 281, 288 ("We will not read into the statute a limitation the plain language does not evidence"). Therefore, there are no other legitimate interpretations or limitations in the statute's words once they

Case 2021AP001787 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2021 Page 9 of 16

have objected to the withholding which Petitioner-Respondent did on numerous occasions.

Petitioner-Respondent objected on his dying uncle's behalf, to the repeated and continuous "withholding" and denial of Ivermectin as drug of choice for his uncle's care. Under Wis. Stat. 155.30(1) it is clear from the plain meaning of the statute that the legislature duly enacted a health care power of attorney form and statute that declared the legislature's intent to give patients the ability to demand a specific medical treatment in Wisconsin.

The language found in the HCPOA form makes it clear that the person executing the HCPOA document has the power under the statute to receive the medical treatment that they request. Implicit in this statement due to the nature of the document being created, is that the Principal not only can expect their "NECESSARY" treatment requests to be honored by medical professionals, but also that this power is transferred to their attorney-in-fact for health care. Thus, for purposes of stating a claim upon which relief can be granted, John Zingsheim himself or his estate will have a cause of action against this hospital for withholding necessary treatment from him.

2.) The contractual relationships of the patient, doctor and hospital system make circuit court intervention necessary when hospital systems breach their contractual duties of "good faith and fair dealing."

Case 2021AP001787 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2021 Page 10 of 16

John Zingsheim has an ongoing contractual relationship with the Aurora Medical Center and its doctors. This hospital has a contractual relationship with each of its patients. Patients go to the hospital in order to received medical services and then they agree to pay the bill or have their insurance do so.

Aurora breached its "good faith and fair dealing" duties to John Zingsheim. by withholding a safe, effective drug that would have helped him to recover in the earlier stages of Covid-19 and may still have some value in the later stages of lung disease. Instead, the hospital has cited "patient safety" as the reason for the substandard rating and subsequent withholding of Ivermectin while at the same time, through its doctors, it has prescribed dangerous drugs to Mr. Zingsheim without having any concerns about "patient safety" despite the safety warnings on the packaging of the drugs themselves. Remdesivir is a drug that the hospital has administered to John Zingsheim, despite its significant history of causing kidney damage. Another drug given to him, Baricitinib, can cause respiratory infections, blood clots and severe to lethal infections.

The Respondent-Appellant also breached its duty of "good faith" and "fair dealing" under the contract when its Board of Directors made a system-wide decision regarding the adoption of a dangerous NIH and CMS mandated Treatment Protocol that prohibits the use of Ivermectin for Covid 19 patients and then isolates and further endangers each of these patients through the administration of Remdesivir and Baricitinib (aka Omulient).

These drugs togethers form a joint Emergency Use Authorization which grants the hospital immunity. The administration of Baricitinib, is considered off-label for Covid-19 treatment. Remdesevir has around a 50% chance of causing severe kidney damage; but hospitals are incentivized to prescribe this drug because they will receive a 20% additional payment on the overall patient's hospital bill for doing so.

Aurora breached its duty of "good faith" under the contract by withholding the necessary treatment Petitioner-Respondent requested for an elderly, vulnerable adult, when that patient, John Zingsheim, in fact had both a statutory right through the powers granted under the Wisconsin HCPOA statute and through the contractual relationship with the hospital and its agents/doctors which carried at the very least, implicit promises to "Do No Harm" and that the hospital and its staff would try to help him. If these promises were not believed to be true by patients, why would anyone go to this hospital?

When board room decisions which are usually financial and/or political in nature replace actual "professional standard of care" patient safety concerns, then the breach of contractual obligations and the violation of statutory duties calls for the courts to intervene.

3) Violation of laws and informed consent -Wis. Stat. 448.30 The physicians in the medical health system are required to be licensed by the State of Wisconsin. Retaining their license requires that they not violate their rules of Professional Conduct. See Wis. Stat. 35.93, Chap. Med. 10. Health care providers are required to follow the laws which includes getting informed consent

from their patients by truthfully giving the risks, benefits and alternative treatments to the patient or the attorney-in-fact for health care regarding their care. See <u>Martin v. Richards</u>, 192 wis. 2d 156, 531 N.W. 2d 70 (1995) ("A doctor has a duty ...to advise of alternative modes of diagnosis as well as of alternative modes of treatment for diagnosed conditions").

Health care providers regularly adhere to the "NO HEALTH CARE MAY BE GIVEN TO YOU OVER YOUR OBJECTION" because they understand that doing otherwise would be considered a "battery" under the law. See Wis. § 940.19

Battery; substantial battery; aggravated battery; See also Wis. § 940.285(1)(ag)6 Abuse of Individuals at Risk ("Deprivation of a basic need for food, shelter, clothing, or personal or health care, including deprivation resulting from the failure to provide or arrange for a basic need by a person voluntarily or by contract, agreement, or court order."); 940.23(2)(a) Second-Degree Reckless injury- ("Whoever causes great bodily harm to another human being is guilty of a Class F felony"); 940.06 Second-degree reckless homicide(1) ("Whoever recklessly causes the death of another human being is guilty of a Class D felony"). Therefore, for a health care worker to withhold life-sustaining water or food or necessary medical treatment, an act of omission, they would need a court order.

### 4) **Huguley** does not apply to this case

Respondents-Appellants have cited <u>Texas Health Huguley</u>, <u>Inc v. Jones</u>, Tex. App. 2021 as a case that provides guidance for 2<sup>nd</sup> District Appellate Court of Wisconsin to consider, due to the similar facts. But this Texas case in not controlling. It is also not persuasive because Wisconsin Health Care Power of

Case 2021AP001787 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2021 Page 13 of 16

Attorney laws are different from Texas laws which do not empower patients to receive necessary medical treatments upon request, as the plain language of the Wisconsin statute does.

Secondly, Ms. Jones did not aver that there was a violation of the duty of "good faith and fair dealing" by the hospital as the Petitioner-Respondent has done here.

# 5) Courts in other states have ordered Ivermectin/ pts improved

A judge in Illinois on Nov. 05, 2021 told the hospital to "step aside" and give a dying man Ivermectin. See Ng Man Kwan as Health Care Proxy for Sun Ng v. Edward-Elmhurst Healthcare, Case No. 2021CH000427-136, Du Page Co, Ill. 11/5/21 (judge stated: "I am not forcing this hospital to do anything other than to step aside") This previously dying man left the hospital on November 16, 2021 and continues to recover at home.

In <u>Wilson Tiffany as Daughter and Attorney in-Fact for Leslie Pal v.</u>

<u>Advocate Condell Medical Center</u>, Case No. 2021MR000957, Du Page, Ill, 09/17/21 the court granted a temporary mandatory Injunction allowing patient to finish Ivermectin and to allow Dr. Bain emergency temporary privileges to administer drug personally.

### **CONCLUSION**

The circuit court did not exceed its authority when it ordered Respondent-Appellant to administer Ivermectin to the John Zingsheim. It also was within its authority to order the hospital to allow an outside physician to provide the treatment under the HCPOA statute Wis. Stat. 155.30 and the hospital/patient contract(s).

Since Aurora Medical Center-Summit chose to not follow the first order, the

Respondent-Appellant has no reason to now complain that it should not be ordered

the second alternative--having an outside physician or nurse to come in to

administer the drug. That was and is the hospital's choice. This Honorable Appeals

Court should affirm Judge Carter's original, signed order.